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During his visit to Hobart Town in 1811, Governor Macquarie instructed Ac ting 

Surveyor James Meehan to make a design for the layout of this small but growing settle­

ment on the shores of the Derwent River. 

The field notes of Meehan's survey work executed as a result of these instructions 

were recently rediscovered and were analysed and plotted by the author, enabling him to 

show in map form his interpretation of these survey notes. 

The resulting map portrays an interesting picture of Hobart Town during the Collins 

period which is not complete. This interpretation of Meehan's survey notes may encourage 

further studies. 

JAMES MEEHAN' S SURVEY OF HOBART TOWN 

After taking office in 1810 Governor Macquarie decided to make a personal inspection 
of Van Dieman' s Land in general, and of Hobart Town in particular. !le found on his 
arrival in Hobart (November 23rd, 1811) a collection of miserable huts interspersed with 
some structures built of brick, public buildings of an unsatisfactory quality, and a few 
muddy tracks and laneways, wandering at random across the hilly slopes, along several 
rivulets and the shores of Sullivans Cove. Obviously no building controls had been ap-
plied, no thought had been given to a desirable layout of the settlement with suitably 
located roads, and no areas of land had been set aside for any specified public purpose. 

This situation alarmed Macquarie, as his experience as an administrator led him to 
see clearly the dangers of a repetition of the rather confused manner in which Sydney had 
grown up along the cart tracks leading out into the bush. Macquarie almost certainly 
discussed the matter first with the local officers and merchants, and then issued 
instructions to surveyor James Meehan (who had come with Macquarie as a member of his 
party) " ... to frame and mark out a regular Plan ... " for the settlement(l-see Referenrns}. 

The possible implications of these instructions put Meehan in a difficult position. 
1ne superimposition of a new grid system of streets over the existing random development 
of Hobart Town would inevitably mean that some people would retain all or much of their 
land and improvements while others would have to start all over again. It also meant 
that the grid system of streets had to be extended from a predetermined baseline which 
could be located almost at will in such a manner that the property owners along this line 
would profit very much indeed with little fear of the probable losses that less fortunate 
(or less influential) occupiers of land were likely to suffer. Meehan also had to take 
into account the topography of the settlement and its surroundings - deep gullies and 
steep slopes were everywhere. It must have taken quite some mental effort to stand in 
semi-cleared bushland, trying to visualise a smooth carriageway lined on both sides with 
prosperous houses and cottages. 

1he speed with which Meehan executed his instructions is impressive. Macquarie and 
his party arrived on Saturday, November 23rd and on the following Tuesday Meehan was 
already at work defining the all-important base line from which he was to extend his 
" ... regular Plan ... " "TI1ere arc no entries for the next two days, but no doubt many 
hurried consultations took place on the locations where the future cross roads (Argyle, 
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James Meehan's 1811 Survey of Hobart Town

c. Mault did not have access to' or did not bother to analyse Meehan's survey field notes,
at th.t time held in the Lands Department in Sydney. Mault was a very experienced
and p.instakingly precise maker of detailed engineering survey charts of Hobart around
1890 and certainly would have picked up a few small discrepancies in Meehan's own
manuscripts.

Once the situation was understood to be most. likely as outlined above t.he 'Mault Map'
became a great. help in t.he int.erpret.ation of some of Meehan's more obscure passages.
Because of this it. is believed t.hat. the reconst.ruction of Meehan's 1811 survey of Hobart
Town as now presented is as accurat.e as his survey observations allow it to be and that
any minor errors which may have found their way into the compilation will indeed be minor
and will not invalidate the general impression now given by the map.

MEEHAN'S SURVEYING METHODS AND FIELD NOTES

Meehan worked wit.h a very simple form of t.heodolite, perhaps t.he one mentioned in one
of Governor King's letters t.o Collins in 1805(15). This instrument was in fact. no more
than a compass with a sighting arrangement. which revolved around an edge or scale divided
into 360 degrees, mounted on a tripod. Distances were measured in chains and links while
the direction of each line was expressed in a compass bearing down to one half (or some­
times a third) of a degree. The accuracy of such an instrument and working method is not
very great and one also has to t.rust and pray t.hat t.he convict.s working as chainmen for
Meehan kept t.heir iron axes and ot.her t.ools at. an appropriat.e dist.ance from t.he compass!
For these reasons, t.he bearings of his lines remain the weakest spot. in Meehan's work,
making it at times very difficult indeed t.o produce a credible graphic plot. of his survey
notes. Not~ithstanding all these t.echnical problems (compounded by the environment. in
which he had t.o work), Meehan was able t.o deliver quite accurat.e work most. of the time.

Meehan's notebooks were made from a large sheet of paper folded over several times to
finish up with a paper size of about 95 x 150 mm. The cent.re-fold would then be hand­
stitched into a piece of soft folded leather after which the sides were cut open with a
knife. Meehan usually wrote on the righthand pages only and at the end of the pages
simply turned around and started again. There are, however, the occasional ent.ries on odd
pages which defy all attempts to link t.heir information wi t.h material from other pages.
Meehan was one of the last surveyors to use the already outmoded l8t.h century system of
abbreviated notes in longhand and a t.ypical example would be:

(13.7) Nll~E 530 bank L. at 3 is .SOL
(13.8) N6~ W 299 cor of Loanes Garden
(13.9) edge of bank - at l.beach, 40L
(13.10) bott.om S16W - Side up 102j3N

In this example t.he details of t.he bearings and dist.ances are quite clear but. t.he
method used to indicat.e the rest of t.he detail along the t.raverse often causes major
problems. The numbers at. t.he st.art. of each line are ITlodern references. With the per­
mission and co-operat.ion of t.he State Archives, each page of the not.ebook was numbered and
the above quotations can t.herefore be found on page 13, lines 7 t.o 10 of his 1811 notebook.
This method of referencing Meehan's information has proved to be very convenient and help­
ful, especially during t.he compilation stages of the graphic plot. There are quite a few
of Meehan's fieldbooks st.ill in existence and the Tasmanian St.ate Archives is at present
allot.t.ing reference numbers to each book.

OTHER HISTORIC MATERIAL FROM MEEHAN'S SURVEY NOTES

Meehan's survey books also contain many references to people and structures of hist.or­
ical significance.

He refers several times for inst.ance t.o an 'orphan house' and an 'orphan school'
(probably one and the same building) at an unfortunately imprecise location near Antill
Street. This reference is of great interest, as the exist.ence in Hobart of such an
insti t.ution as early as l811 was only vaguely known previously. Ot.her remarks relat.e to
early mills on the Hobart. Rivulet (including the one of Mr. Nash), and to a bridge located
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in front of today's Kodak shop in Elizabeth Street. Tne location of the powder magazine
on the edge of Sullivan's Cove is also shown but subsequent development of the site makes
it unlikely that remnants will ever come to light.

The implications of some of the measurements noted down in Meehan's notebook are also
interesting. The size of the Government House at that time (located between the modern
Frankl in Square and the Town Hall) was a miserable 18.5 m wide by 5.43 m deep - hardly
enough for four or five small rooms and a narrow passage! The timber church erected over
Collin's grave was reputed to be small, and so it proved to be in Meehan's notebook; it
measured only 15.3 x 6.2 m. It also was probab ly built rather poorly, because 18 months
later he notes (in his 1813 surveys) that the church is no longer there. Finally the
posi tion of the most important place in the settlement was noted: the flagstaff from
which the Union Jack signalled the presence of British sovereignty on this is land. In
front of this flag Collins used to hold an occasional parade or ceremony, or would read
the riot act to that group of Hobart's population who appeared to be in need of such action.
Nowadays this spot lies quietly and forgotten underneath the Lord Mayor's reception room in
the Hobart Town Hall.

Meehan never hesitated to mention names; especially in his 1813 notebooks a large
number of the early inhabitants of Hobart Town get a mention and a further future study of
these names should enlarge our knowledge of the pioneers of that period quite considerably.

When in 1813 Meehan surveyed the sandy beach near the 'Government Store' he picked up
the " .. , tree marked in January 1804." (58.5). This is a very significant remark because
of its implications. Meehan spent several months in the Derwent region late in 1803 and
early 1804 using Risdon Cove as his base while exploring the surrounding countryside,
charting topographical detai Is and making general observations as he went along. Chart
Monmouth 0 in the Lands Department indicates that one of these excursions went along the
mouth of the Hobart Rivulet but Meehan's fieldnotes of this traverse so far have not turn­
ed up. The above comment in his notebook indicates however that this visit occurred in
January 1804, a few weeks before Collins arrived from Port Phillip with his expedition.
The time between the two events is long enough for Meehan's opinion of the environment of
the Hobart Rivulet to have become known to the inhabitants of Risdon Cove and almost cer­
tainly they would have passed these views on to the settlers of Collins advance party who
arrived at Risdon early in February and a few days before Collins himself arrived in the
'Ocean'. It is therefore highly likely that it was based on the intelligence of James
Meehan that Collins and his party on their exploratory trip of February 17, 1804, went
straight to Sullivans Cove, returning that evening to Risdon Cove " ... much delighted ... "
wi th the decision of " ... having pitched on a place about five mi les lower down the river"
(16) .

Nowadays the location of the tree is underneath the pavement near the southernmost
corner of the City Hall.

AN ANALYSIS OF THE LOCATION OF MEEHAN'S STREETS

Because of the very short time available to Meehan during his 1811 visit the 'setting
out of the streets of Hobart Town' can not have been more than the placing of a few stakes
in the ground, while much of this ground would have been still covered with (burnt?) timber,
scrub or rough paddocks.

In Macquarie's proclamation of 1.12.1811(17) he mentioned three 'long' streets
(Macquarie, Collins and Liverpool) and four 'cross' streets (Argyle, Elizabeth, Murray
and Harrington), while Franklin Square was called George's Square. Davey Street is shown
but not named, although on the copy of Meehan's plan which was sent to Sydney it may have
been called Pitt Street. The pegging out of Davey Street however was not done till
Meehan returned to Hobart in 1813, when he also pegged out the alignments of the other
streets which nowadays make up Macquarie's 'regular plan': Molle, Barrack and Campbell
Streets and the streets north of and parallel with Liverpool Street.

We need to visualise a series of stakes standing forlorn somewhere in the bush
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In the early 1820's however the Murray Street frontage of this garden (that is: virtu­
ally out of sight of Government House) was set aside for public purpose, after which a
court house was builtin 1823 on the corner with Macquarie Street. In later years more
Government Offices were built on this strip of land.

Government House was not demolished unti 1 the late '50's, an event which was accom­
panied by a general reorganisation of the area. Elizabeth Street was extended as far as
the harbour's edge, while Davey Street was finally extended through to Elizabeth Street ­
not along the easier contours as suggested by Meehan in 1811 (and being the location of
an old track leading from Government House to Knopwood' s Cottage Green) but in a straight
line from Murray Street through to Victoria Dock.

Argyle Street was also extended from Macquarie Street to the waterfront and the
ratepayers of Hobart thus obtained a new city block on which to build one of the finest
Town Halls in Australia - 1866. What remained of the original idea of a Village Square
was then again cut up: the western part was reserved for extensions to the Government
Offices in Murray Street (this site is now occupied by the Premier's Department and the
Court Buildings), while the eastern section was landscaped and re-named Franklin Square.

MACQUARIE'S BUILDING REGULATIONS

During the first few years after 1804 the early settlers used whatever building
materials they could find and many of these materials came from the resources of their
environment.

Wi th so much timber on hand, split planks and palings were soon used for almost
everything and most of the common building methods of rural Tasmania in the mid-80's
were formulated in the early days of the colony. Meehan referred already in 1811 to
paling fences, and also noted that the decking of the bridge across the Hobart Rivulet
consisted of 'planking': solid slabs of timber, a construction method still used in the
country today. Planking was also used for (often vertical) weatherboards and for inter­
ior lining, thin shingles for the roof. Those with more money to spend would use bricks
instead of rubble or boulders for the fireplace, while the next step 'up' would be to
build the front elevation out of bricks. Buildings entirely built of bricks or stone
were notable landmarks in any street and the owners of such houses would have been very
rich indeed compared with the rest of the population. If we add to this a generally
poor standard of housing, the poorly constructed 'roads' (often no more than muddy tracks)
and a generally unhygienic sanitary situation which favoured rats and other vermin, one
can well imagine the horror with which Macquarie observed the existing situation in
Hobart. Obviously, nothing worthwhile had been done to improve general housing stand­
ards, no land had been set aside for public building and amenities, most houses were too
small and too close together and no thought had been given to an orderly development of
Hobart Town either for that time or later.

Seen in this light the measures which Macquarie took were not dictatorial but very
sensible indeed. In order to get the individual homes further apart he specified min-
imum widths of allotments - 60 or 100 feet, while all allotments had to be 132 feet deep,
thus permitting each household to grow its own vegetables and to dispose of its nightsoil
within its own boundaries. For an orderly placing of these allotments streets were
needed and the frontages created by Meehan's formal streets would allow the subdivision
of many of the required blocks of land. All streets were to be 60 feet wide, with foot-
paths 8 feet wide set aside for pedestrians. In addition, buildings had to be set back
20 feet from the street, thus creating a 100 feet minimum width between street facades.
This last ruling was adhered to for quite a number of years and is the reason why such
buildings as Ingle Hall still enjoy a garden in the middle of the city. In later years
the authorities relaxed this requirement, especially in the city centre and many merchants
used this space for a shop or other premises. As a result, many of the older Hobart
buildings can still be recognised by a careful study of their construction behind their
street frontage.

The 100 feet rule also had another purpose" in this plan the houses are intended
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APPENDIX

,JAMES MEEHAN'S SURVEY OF HOBART TOWN (see fig. 2)

As an example of Meehan's survey methods, this diagram shows the survey traverse
encircling the settled area of early Hobart Town, an area now covered by Central Hobart.

In view of the primitive equipment used by Meehan the outer traverse and its link
wi th line 3 (the survey baseline along Macquarie Street) closes wi th a surprising degree
of accuracy.

Note how the location of the traverse along an early traffic way (lines 33 and 34)
differs from today' s location of Eli zabeth Street. This traverse however does not
quite meet the junction of lines 12 and 13, although in all probability it did as meas­
ured by Meehan.

Line 29 terminated on a small beach near a tree which had been blazed by Meehan in
January 1804, thus making it the first survey benchmark in Hobart.

Line 1 and Line 32 connected wi th the northern corner of the 'provision' (Govern-
ment) Store. When Meehan made his survey in November 1811 this building had only just
been completed. It is still in existence in Macquarie Street opposite the Prince-of­
Wales 'lheatre; it now serves as an office for the Tasmanian Museum and Art Gallery.

Line 41 (along Murray Street) was in all probability the front fence of the early
mili tary barracks area, while the tree at the end of this line stood on the bank of the
Hobart Rivulet - a spot now covered by the entrance of the Centrepoint complex.

Line 23 was orientated in such a way that it went alongside a small chapel over
Collins' grave; the fieldnotes of this line are detailed enough to attempt the re-
establishment of the exact location of this first chapel or church in Tasmania. Another
interesting aspect of this line is that at that time it was apparently still possible to
see from St. Josephs Church in Macquarie Street to a spot in front of Parliament House!

Meehan gives the following details about the traverses as shown on the adjoining
page. For convenience of reference, they have been numbered here from 1 through to 41:

1 3.8 W40.5N 147 15 11.10 W41.75S 700 29 13.17 W23.5S 149
2 3.9 W25.5S 49 16 11.11 S20.33W 519 30 14.3 S32.75E 90
3 3.11 S34.5W 3066 17 11.16 E15S 65 31 3.6 N34.75E 46
4 8.5 N31.75W 215 18 11.18 S16W 753 32 3.4 N 1.75+E 142
5 8.15 W43.5N 186 19 21.1 E2l.5S 703 33 20.3 W23.5N 900
6 9.1 W14.25 430 20 12.4 N20E 833 34 20.7 W11N 510
7 9.6 N32.5W 249 21 12.8 E43.33N 286 35 5.11: W36N 400
8 9.16 W 7.75 181 22 12.14 E33N 360 36 5.12 W21N 450
9 10.5 W 6.5N :'19 23 12.15 E1.5N 1800 37 6.4 W14.25N 427

10 10.8 W33S, 524 24 13.4 N14.67W 598 38 6.7 Wl1. 75N 584
11 10.11 544.33 620 25 13.7 N16.5E 530 39 7.1 N37.5E 202
12 10.12 E29.5+5 310 26 13.8 N6.5W 299 40 7.3 E30N 303
13 10.16 528.33W 1005 27 13.11 N24E 800
14 11.6 5 7.75W 500 28 13.12 N6.67Q 600 41 16.9 W24N 850


